Invasive Species Program

Exposure Assessment

Imidacloprid: Soil Application to Non-Commercial Citrus Trees for Asian Citrus Psyllid Control

June 2015



Pesticide and Environmental Toxicology Branch Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment California Environmental Protection Agency

CONTRIBUTIONS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This document was prepared by the Pesticide and Environmental Toxicology Branch of the California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.

Authors:

Amy Arcus-Arth, D.V.M., M.P.V.M. David Ting, Ph.D., M.P.H.

Reviewers:

Lauren Zeise, Ph.D. Lori Lim, Ph.D. Allan Hirsch

<u>Acknowledgements</u>

We thank the California Department of Pesticide Regulation and the California Department of Food and Agriculture for their review of a draft of this document.

This assessment was informed by members of the public who brought concerns forward at informational public meetings hosted by the California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) and by CDFA staff members who provided helpful information to OEHHA staff.

1

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

ACP	Asian Citrus Psyllid
atm m ³ /mole	atmospheres cubic meter per mole
Cal/EPA	California Environmental Protection Agency
CDFA	California Department of Food and Agriculture
C _A	concentration of imidacloprid in fruit – acute exposure
Csc	concentration of imidacloprid in fruit – subchronic exposure
CRA	citrus fruit consumption rate - acute exposure
CRsc	citrus fruit consumption rate - subchronic exposure
CYP450	cytochrome P450
D _A	dose - acute exposure
Dsc	dose - subchronic exposure
DPR	California Department of Pesticide Regulation (within Cal/EPA)
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization (of the United Nations)
g/mol	grams per mole
HLB	Huanglongbing
K _d	dissociation constant
K _{oc}	soil organic carbon-water partition coefficient
K _{ow}	octanol-water partition coefficient
L	fraction of total citrus fruit consumption that is home grown
mg/L	milligram per liter
mg/kg	milligram per kilogram of body weight
mm Hg	millimeter mercury
ND	non-detectable
ng	nanogram (one millionth of a milligram)
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
OEHHA	Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment
_	(within Cal/EPA)
ppb	parts per billion (e.g., µg/kg)
ppm	parts per million (e.g., mg/kg)
RfD	Reference Dose
µg/kg	microgram per kilogram of body weight
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
US EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WHO	World Health Organization

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	2
Summary	5
Imidacloprid use to control ACP Residents' exposure from fruit consumption Residents' exposure from pathways other than fruit consumption Conclusion	6 7
Introduction	9
ACP in California	9
Use of Imidacloprid to Control ACP	10
Chemical and Physical Properties and Environmental Fate Chemical and physical properties Environmental degradation	11
Exposure Assessment	14
Oral Route Consumption of fruit, leaves, or flowers Consumption of ground or surface water	14
Dermal Route	16
Inhalation Route	17
Dose Estimation for Consumption of Citrus Fruit, Leaves and Flowers Exposure durations modeled Evaluation of the citrus fruit consumption pathway Resident groups modeled Variates used in the exposure models of fruit consumption Calculation of imidacloprid dose from citrus fruit consumption Evaluation of the citrus leaf consumption pathway Evaluation of the citrus flower consumption pathway Uncertainties	18 18 19 23 25 26
Conclusion	28
References	29
Appendix A Effects on imidacloprid levels of fruit processing, freezing, and storage	
Appendix B	37
Imidacloprid levels in fruit from ACP treated citrus trees	37

Office of Environmental Health		Exposure to Imidacloprid for
Hazard Assessment	3	ACP Control
		June 2015

List of Tables

Table 1. Chemical and Physical Properties of Imidacloprid	11
Table 2. Degradation Products of Imidacloprid in the Environment	13
Table 3. Number of Fruit Samples Collected from ACP Treated Trees	19
Table 4. Post-Application Samples Above or Below the Reporting Limit	20
Table 5. Summary Statistics of Imidacloprid Residues in Citrus Fruit	
Table 6. Imidacloprid Concentrations (C) Used to Estimate Dose	21
Table 7. One Day Citrus Fruit Consumption Rates	22
Table 8. Daily Citrus Fruit Consumption Rate Averaged Over One Year	23
Table 9. Variate Values Used for Acute Exposure Imidacloprid Doses	23
Table 10. Calculated Acute Exposure Imidacloprid Doses	24
Table 11. Variate Values Used for Subchronic Exposure Imidacloprid Doses	24
Table 12. Calculated Subchronic Exposure Imidacloprid Doses	24
Table B1. Sample Sizes of Fruit Collected from ACP Treated Trees	37
Table B2. Post-Application Imidacloprid Residues in ACP Treated Tree Fruit	38
Table B3. Summary of Post-Application Samples	39
Table B4. Imidacloprid Residues from ACP Treated Tree Fruit (ppm)	

Exposure Assessment: Soil Application of Imidacloprid to Non-Commercial Citrus Trees for Asian Citrus Psyllid Control

Summary

In this exposure assessment, the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) evaluated human exposure to imidacloprid which may occur from the treatment by the California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) of non-commercial citrus trees for the control of Asian Citrus Psyllid (ACP) in Southern California. Imidacloprid's ecological exposures and effects, including possible effects on bees, were not evaluated.

Imidacloprid use to control ACP

The ACP, *Diaphorina citri*, is a tiny mottled brown insect, about the size of an aphid. It feeds on citrus plants and can transmit a bacterium, *Candidatus Liberibacto*, which is associated with the disease huanglongbing (HLB). The bacterium is harmless to humans but is a serious threat to citrus. HLB-infected trees produce yellow leaves and inedible fruit, and usually die within a few years. Presently, there is no cure for HLB. The only way to prevent HLB spread is to control the ACP population and remove and destroy infected trees.

ACP is considered an invasive species in North America and was first detected in California in 2008. Shortly thereafter, CDFA, citrus growers, and related parties developed plans to control and manage ACP and thus prevent the infestation and spread of HLB. Recognizing that ACP can infest non-commercial as well as commercial citrus trees, CDFA began a non-commercial citrus ACP control program, which includes application of two insecticide formulations to non-commercial citrus trees in or near areas where ACP has been detected (hereafter referred to as "ACP treatments."). These treatments primarily involve residential properties, with a few community parks and schools within treatment zones. Only properties with citrus trees, and only citrus trees (and a very few other plants on which ACP can live) are treated.

One of the ACP-treatment insecticide formulations, Merit 2F[®], contains imidacloprid as its active ingredient. Imidacloprid belongs to the neonicotinoid insecticide family and has a chemical structure similar to that of nicotine. It binds to specific receptors on neurons of the central nervous system of insects and at sufficiently high concentrations causes neurotoxicity, paralysis, and death. Similar receptors also exist on mammalian cells, but they have a lower affinity towards imidacloprid and are found on many different cell types besides neurons of the central nervous system. It is believed that these differences account for the higher toxicity observed in insects compared to mammals.

When Merit 2F[®] is used by CDFA for ACP treatment, it is diluted with water and applied directly to the soil within 6-24 inches of the base of the targeted tree. Imidacloprid is subsequently absorbed by the root system and distributed into all parts of the tree.

In a collaborative effort with CDFA, the California Department of Pesticide Regulation (DPR) monitored imidacloprid residues in fruit of orange and lemon trees following ACP treatment. Low levels of imidacloprid were detected in approximately one third of the fruit samples. The primary focus of this assessment is to address health concerns related to the consumption of home-grown citrus fruit from trees treated in the ACP control program.

Residents' exposure from fruit consumption

In this exposure assessment, OEHHA used the fruit monitoring data of DPR (2011) and evaluated acute and subchronic exposures to imidacloprid through the consumption of home-grown citrus fruit. Because ACP detections can be sporadic in localized geographic areas, it is unlikely that a given residence will receive more than 3-4 consecutive yearly treatments. Chronic exposures (generally defined as greater than 7-8 years) to imidacloprid are not likely and are not evaluated in the assessment.

This assessment modeled three residential groups: (1) the general population, (2) women of child-bearing age as a surrogate for the developing and susceptible fetus, and (3) small children, representing highly exposed individuals. Central-tendency and high-end dose estimates are calculated for each group. The high-end dose estimates are presented below.

The estimated acute high-end doses are:

Adults:	2.1 µg/kg body weight
Women of child-bearing age:	2.5 µg/kg body weight
Small children:	12 µg/kg body weight

The estimated subchronic high-end doses are:

Adults:	0.025 μg/kg body weight - day
Women of child-bearing age:	0.029 μg/kg body weight - day
Small children:	0.18 μg/kg body weight - day

In order to put the estimated doses in perspective, acute, acute developmental, and subchronic Reference Doses (RfDs) (dose values below which adverse health effects are not expected) developed by DPR (2006a) and the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2013) are provided below (after converting doses in units of mg/kg-day to µg/kg-day):

<u>DPR</u>

- Acute RfD
- Acute developmental RfD
- Subchronic RfD

90 μg/kg body weight 60 μg/kg body weight 70 μg/kg body weight - day

<u>US EPA</u>

•	Acute RfD	140 µg/kg body weight
•	Incidental/intermediate	
	RfD	100 µg/kg body weight - day
*1		

*Incidental and Intermediate term is defined as 1 day to 6 months exposure

A comparison of the high-end dose estimates determined in this assessment with the corresponding RfDs developed by DPR and US EPA shows that exposure to imidacloprid residue from consumption of home-grown citrus fruit from ACP-treated trees is not likely to pose a health hazard to the residents.

Residents' exposure from pathways other than fruit consumption

In addition to the consumption of citrus fruit, OEHHA also performed screening-level evaluations on the consumption of citrus leaves and flowers, ground water intake, and dermal exposure. Screening-level doses are high-end estimates intended to represent a very high possible dose, however unlikely it may be ("worst-case").

Because imidacloprid is distributed to all parts of a plant, it is possible that residents may be exposed if they use citrus leaves or flowers in their cooking or in making beverages. Residents may also be exposed if imidacloprid were to leach into groundwater used for drinking water or by dermal contact with soil or fruit juice.

OEHHA used imidacloprid citrus leaf residue data from ACP-treated trees and estimated acute exposure to imidacloprid through the consumption of citrus leaves. This estimated acute dose is less than two percent of that estimated for the consumption of citrus fruit and is thus considered insignificant.

There are no data on imidacloprid residues in citrus flowers that are specific to the ACP program. OEHHA used surrogate data from a published study that measured imidacloprid in citrus flowers following soil application to provide a rough estimate of screening-level exposure dose. The estimate is 1/1000 that of citrus fruit consumption and therefore is considered insignificant.

Based on the treatment method, physical properties of imidacloprid and groundwater monitoring data, OEHHA determined that dermal contact with soil and consumption of ground water are not likely to cause significant exposure to imidacloprid following ACP

7

treatment. Nevertheless, OEHHA used groundwater monitoring and soil data to confirm that in the unlikely event that exposures via these pathways were to occur, the exposures would not pose a health hazard to residents.

OEHHA considers inhalation exposure to imidacloprid from ACP treatments to be unlikely and insignificant based on imidacloprid's low volatility, imidacloprid application methods, and the lack of detection of imidacloprid in air samples following ACP treatments.

Conclusion

OEHHA considered potential exposure to imidacloprid following soil application by CDFA for residential control of ACP and found that consumption of citrus fruit is the only significant pathway. This pathway is quantitatively evaluated using citrus fruit residue data provided by DPR that is specific to the ACP treatment. The results show that imidacloprid doses associated with this pathway are relatively low and are not likely to pose a health hazard to residents whose yards are treated by CDFA for ACP.

Introduction

The purpose of this report is to evaluate potential human exposure to imidacloprid used in the California Department of Food and Agriculture's (CDFA's) Asian Citrus Psyllid (ACP) control and management program. The report does not evaluate imidacloprid's potential ecological exposures and effects, including possible effects on bees.

ACP in California

The ACP, *Diaphorina citri*, is a tiny mottled brown insect, about the size of an aphid. It feeds on all varieties of citrus (e.g., oranges, grapefruit, lemons, and mandarins) and a few very closely related ornamental plants in the family Rutaceae (e.g., calamondin, box orange, Indian curry leaf, and orange jessamine or orange jasmine) (Grafton-Cardwell and Daugherty, 2013). ACP feeds on young leaves and can transmit a bacterium called *Candidatus Liberibacter* from an infected plant to a healthy plant through its feeding. The bacterium is associated with the citrus disease Huanglongbing (HLB), also known as citrus greening disease.

Candidatus Liberibacter blocks the flow of nutrients within the infected tree, and kills the tree within a few years. Symptoms of HLB include yellow shoots with mottling and chlorosis of the leaves, misshapen fruit, fruit that does not fully color, and fruit that has a very bitter taste making it unfit for human consumption. HLB was first detected In the United States in Florida in 2005. While HLB does not infect humans, it is fatal to citrus trees and is probably the most serious disease to sweet orange, mandarin and grapefruit trees (NRC, 2010). As there is no cure for HLB, the best way to prevent its spread is to remove and destroy the infected plant and control ACP populations (CDFA, 2012a).

The first, and so far only, detection of HLB in California occurred during March 2012 in Los Angeles County. The bacterium was detected in samples collected from a single tree and from the ACP found on that tree. It is thought that this was the result of an HLB-infected branch brought in from Asia and grafted to the tree (CDFA, 2012b).

HLB has the potential to devastate the citrus industry. It has been estimated that between 2006 and 2011, HLB cost Florida \$4.5 billion in revenue and over 8,200 jobs (Hodges and Spreen, 2012). If HLB were to infect citrus trees in California, the economic losses due to inedible fruit and juice, shortened tree life span, and damage to citrus trees in residential and public property could be significant.

In order to lessen the possibility of HLB in California, CDFA declared ACP a grave threat to California's \$2 billion a year citrus industry and has made emergency proclamations for treatment in the counties where it has been detected. ACP was first detected in California in San Diego County along the United States-Mexico border in

9

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015 2008. Since that time it has spread to or entered 13 other counties as far north as Santa Clara and San Joaquin counties. CDFA's ACP control program includes the treatment of non-commercial citrus (e.g., citrus in public parks and city properties as well as on residential properties). The ACP control program uses two insecticide formulations. The first, Tempo SC Ultra[®], contains beta-cyfluthrin as its active ingredient and is applied to the foliage of targeted trees and plants from the ground level. This provides quick-kill to the ACP on the tree. The second formulation, Merit 2F[®], contains imidacloprid as its active ingredient and is applied to the soil directly under the target tree. Merit 2F[®] provides long term systemic protection to the plants.

Use of Imidacloprid to Control ACP

Imidacloprid was first registered by the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) in 1994 (Hovda and Hooser, 2002) for an insecticide product called Merit® with label use on turf and ornamentals. Subsequently, imidacloprid has been registered for use on various food and feed crops, tobacco plants, buildings for termite control, on cats and dogs for flea control, and in residential buildings for bed bug and other insect control. Currently, imidacloprid is classified as a General Use Pesticide, meaning that it is available to the general public and can be used without supervision or special training.

Over the years, imidacloprid has gradually replaced many insecticides, such as organophosphates and methylcarbamates, due to its high insecticidal potency, low mammalian toxicity, and relatively low insect resistance. It can be applied by foliage spraying or soil drench.

When used in the ACP program, Merit 2F[®] is diluted with water and applied to the soil around the base (label states within 6-24 inches) of the target tree. Imidacloprid is slowly taken up by the tree roots and translocated through the tree's xylem to the leaves and other vegetative plant parts. Insects that feed or suck on the leaves ingest the imidacloprid and subsequently die. A very small amount of imidacloprid may also be distributed to the fruit and flowers via the phloem (Sur and Stork, 2003; Krischik et al., 2007; Serikawa et al., 2012) or through another yet unidentified mechanism.

Chemical and Physical Properties and Environmental Fate

The chemical name for imidacloprid is N-(6-chloropyridin-3-ylmethyl)-2nitroiminoimidazolidine. It belongs to a class of chemicals known as neonicotinoids, which are synthetic analogs of nicotine.

Chemical and physical properties

Imidacloprid is relatively soluble in water and is not volatile at ambient temperature. Some of its physical and chemical properties are listed in Table 1.

Property	Value
Molecular weight	255.7 g/mol
Water solubility	514 mg/L (20ºC, at pH 7)
Vapor pressure	1.00 x 10 ⁻⁷ mm Hg (20°C)
Hydrolysis half-life	>30 days (25°C, at pH 7)
Aqueous photolysis half-life	<1-3 hours (24°C, at pH 7)
Anaerobic soil degradation half-life	27 days
Aerobic soil degradation half-life	997 days
Soil surface photolysis half-life	39 days
Field dissipation half-life	26 – 229 days
Henry's Law constant	6.5 x 10 ¹ atm m /mole (20°C)
Octanol-water coefficient (K _{ow})	3.7
Soil sorption coefficient (K _{oc}) (mean values)	249 ^b – 336 ^c
Dissociation constant in water (K _d)	6.7 ^d
Soil organic carbon-water partition coefficient	132–310

 Table 1. Chemical and Physical Properties of Imidacloprid

^a All data are from DPR, 2006b, except as noted ; ^b From Oi, 1999; ^c From Oliver et al., 2005;

^d From US EPA, 2007

Environmental degradation

In the environment, the principal routes of dissipation for imidacloprid are aqueous photolysis, microbial degradation and uptake by plants. In water, imidacloprid degradation is highly dependent on exposure to sunlight. The half-life of imidacloprid in water with sunlight is 1-3 hours and in water without sunlight is 33 to 44 days (Sarkar et al., 1999).

Literature reports of the half-life of imidacloprid in soil vary considerably. The half-life for the photolysis of imidacloprid on soil surface is reported by Cox et al. (2004) as 90 hours while DPR (2006b) reports a value of 39 days. For imidacloprid which has been encapsulated by soil, half-lives were reported as 26-229 days by DPR (2006b) and values falling within that range from laboratory studies were reported by Cox et al. (2004), Oi (1999), Sammani et al. (2013), and Scholz and Spiteller (1992), and from field studies were reported by Rouchard et al. (1994) and Rouchard et al. (1996). McGaughey et al. (2013) and the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME, 2007) report values from registrant studies ranging from 83-174 days. Based on the aforementioned half-lives, it is suggested that there is little potential for accumulation of imidacloprid in soil following repeated annual application (CCME, 2007). However, CCME (2007) also notes that longer half-lives have been determined from field studies, in particular a half-life of 2 years from imidacloprid applied to seed potatoes. Additionally, the time for 90% of imidacloprid to dissipate from soil can be much greater than one year (CCME, 2007), suggesting that accumulation with annual treatments could occur in a minority of applications. It is noted that the Merit 2F[®] label specifies a maximum total level that can be applied over a year period.

In soil, imidacloprid's mobility depends for the most part on soil adsorption, which in turn is primarily influenced by soil organic matter and clay particle content (Cox et al., 1998; Cox et al., 2004; Fernandez-Perez et al., 1998; Papiernik et al., 2006). However, studies on the depth and rate of movement of imidacloprid found that mobility varied greatly between studies and depended on soil properties, irrigation/precipitation, and the imidacloprid formulation used (Knoepp et al., 2012). The laboratory study of Gupta et al. (2002) reported that more than 60% of applied imidacloprid was adsorbed to soil, while 29 to 40% moved 25 centimeters through the soil column into leachate. The study also found that imidacloprid in formulated form had a higher tendency to be absorbed than technical-grade imidacloprid. Field studies of Felsot et al. (1998), Junior et al. (2004), and Knoepp et al. (2012) found rapid and relatively deep leaching of imidacloprid which they attributed to preferential flow pathways (macro-pores in the top soil layers). Papiernik et al. (2006) found that imidacloprid degradation products, imidacloprid-guanidine, imidacloprid-guanidine-olefin, and imidacloprid-urea, likewise adsorbed to soil. Knoepp et al. concluded that due to variability in organic content of soil and the existence of preferential flow pathways, it is difficult to make generalizations about the movement and concentrations of imidacloprid in soil.

Table 2 lists environmental degradation products of imidacloprid (i.e., in soil, water, and plants). Exposure to degradation products are not evaluated in this assessment because all except one (desnitro-imidacloprid) are considered to be less toxic than the parent compound and there is little or no information regarding levels of any of the degradation products in citrus plant parts (e.g., fruit). Additionally, desnitro-imidacloprid was a "minor metabolite of citrus" at about 0.12% of radioactivity of parent compound (Koester, 1990).

Parent &	Chemical Name	Structure ^a	Degradation
Degradation Product			location
Imidacloprid	1-[(6-chloro-3-		not
CAS 105827-78-9	pyridinyl)methyl]-N-nitro- 2-imidazolidinimine		applicable
	1-[(6-chloropridin-3- yl)methyl]-N-nitro-4,5- dihydroimidazol-2-amine		
Desnitro-imidacloprid (Imidacloprid guanidine) NTN 33823	1-[(6-chloro-3- pyridinyl)methyl]-4,5- dihydro-1H-imidazol-2- amine		plants
5-hydroxy- imidacloprid 5-OH-imidacloprid (monohydroxy metabolite) WAK 4103	1-[(6-chloro-3- pyridinyl)methyl]-5- hydroxy-4,5-dihydro-N- nitro-1H-imidazol-2-amine		plants
Olefinic-imidacloprid Imidacloprid olefin	1[(6-chloro-3- pyridinyl)methyl]-N-nitro-		plants
NTN 35884	1H-imidazol-2-amine		
Imidacloprid-urea	1-[(6-chloro-3- pyridinyl)methyl]-2- imidazolidinone		soil water
6-hyroxynicotinic acid	6-hydroxypyridine-3- carboxylic acid	онсоон	soil
CAS 5006-66-6		`N=	
6-chloronicotinic acid	6-chloro-3- pyridinecarboxylic acid		soil
WAK 3583	2-chloropyridine-5-	сі—	
CAS 5326-23-8	carboxylic acid		
6-chloronicotinic aldehyde	6-chloro-3- pyridinecarboxaldehyde	сі—	water
CAS 23100-12-1		N	
6-chloro-N- methylnicotinamide	6-chloro-N-methyl-3- pyridinecarboxamide	сі	water
CAS 54189-82-1		`N=_/	
6-chloro-3-pyridyl- methylethylenediamin e	N1-[(6-chloro-3- pyridinyl)methyl]-1,2- ethanediamine		water
CAS 101990-44-7			
monoglucoside of 6- chloropicolyl alcohol			plants
a Ourseture of showing to be			

 Table 2. Degradation Products of Imidacloprid in the Environment

^a Structure of chemicals adapted from DPR (2006b)

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015

Exposure Assessment

CDFA applies imidacloprid as a soil drench to non-commercial citrus trees for the control and treatment of ACP. In this assessment, OEHHA assesses potential residential exposure to imidacloprid as a result of the treatment. The assessment consists of two steps. The first step is to identify the significant exposure pathways that are associated with the ACP treatment. This includes calculation of screening-level exposure dose estimates, which are high-end estimates intended to protect individuals who could potentially be exposed to such doses. The second step is to estimate more refined doses associated with the identified significant exposure pathways.

Oral Route

Consumption of fruit, leaves, or flowers

Imidacloprid applied to soil is taken up by the tree's root system and translocated by the xylem into the vegetative parts of the plant. A very small amount may travel through the phloem (the "vascular" system which moves nutrients throughout the tree) into fruit and other developing parts (Sur and Stork, 2003; Krischik et al., 2007; Serikawa et al., 2012). As part of DPR's environmental monitoring program, fruit and leaf samples were collected from ACP-treated citrus trees. Imidacloprid residues were found at low levels in about one-third of the fruit samples and at much higher levels in all the leaf samples tested. Human exposure to imidacloprid could occur through consumption of food products made from fruit (e.g., fresh juice, marmalade); leaves (e.g., tea, savory dishes); or flowers (e.g., tea, jam). Human consumption of citrus fruit and juice is common, supported by the listing of three types of citrus fruit on FDA's list of the 20 most frequently consumed foods (US FDA, 2014). Some individuals consume large amounts of citrus fruit and juice. The consumption of citrus fruit and juice is determined to be a plausible and potentially significant exposure pathway which is further evaluated in this exposure assessment.

Consumption of ground or surface water

This assessment also considered the significance of exposure to imidacloprid via consumption of surface water or groundwater. For surface water, aerosol deposition of imidacloprid onto surface water following ACP treatment is not expected since the chemical is applied as a liquid (not as a spray) directly into a shallow trench in the soil around the base of the tree. In the ACP treatment program, only a small amount of imidacloprid is used and the site of application is generally not close to surface water bodies (e.g., rivers or lakes) that might be used for drinking water. Even if some imidacloprid did remain in the top layer of soil, lateral movement is expected to be very

limited based on a field study of Knoepp et al (2012). The study measured imidacloprid at various depths and lateral distances from the sites of soil application and found that imidacloprid was detectable only in locations less than 0.5 meters lateral from the application site.

Imidacloprid contamination of surface water from commercial agricultural use has been observed in monitoring surveys in California by DPR (Starner and Goh, 2012). However, these measurements are from large-scale commercial (agricultural) use areas where foliar application, treatment in close proximity to surface water bodies, and water runoff are likely to have contributed to the surface water contamination. The surface water exposure pathway is considered insignificant for ACP treatments and is not further evaluated.

Groundwater is determined to be an unlikely or very rare exposure pathway. The ACP treatments have taken place mostly in Southern California where the vast majority of the 542 Southern California Basin Network wells are over 100 feet deep and only three wells are as shallow as 25 feet (USGS, 2013). Some of these wells provide water for domestic use, including drinking water, and suggest that private wells in southern California used for domestic use are at least 25 feet deep. Field and laboratory tests indicate that imidacloprid generally does not leach to a soil depth of more than four feet, suggesting that groundwater contamination from imidacloprid of any significant amount is unlikely. However, it is acknowledged that conduits and cracks in the soil column may allow imidacloprid to reach depths greater than four feet.

DPR has a groundwater monitoring program that collects samples from wells for selected pesticides, including imidacloprid, in California. Between 2005 and 2011, DPR analyzed 817 samples collected from 37 agricultural counties and found only one detection of imidacloprid at a very low concentration (0.005 ppb) (DPR, 2013). The application rate and the area covered in an agricultural setting are likely to be much greater than those in the ACP treatment program, and yet imidacloprid has been detected only once in groundwater. Although ground water contamination from ACP treatments is considered unlikely and very rare, a calculation can be made using the DPR groundwater level (0.005 ppb) and the high-end water intake rate for children of 196 ml/kg body weight - day (OEHHA, 2012).

Dose _{groundwater} = 0.005 ng/ml × 196 ml/kg body weight - day = 0.98 ng/kg body weight - day

The calculation confirms that in the unlikely event that exposure did occur, it would be to an inconsequential amount (ng/kg body weight - day relative to mg/kg body weight - day for reference exposure levels identified on page 26). Based on the exposure calculation using the groundwater monitoring data and the relatively deep level of wells in Southern California, it is concluded that consumption of groundwater is not a significant exposure pathway and is not further evaluated.

15

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

Dermal Route

Dermal exposure to imidacloprid could occur through skin contact with citrus pulp or juice, or with fluid from leaves. The extent of exposure is likely to be insignificant because imidacloprid levels in fruit are low (in the ppb range) and only a small part of the body (i.e., hands) would come into contact with a small amount of juice or pulp.

Dermal exposure could also occur through skin contact with contaminated soil soon after application by soil drench. However, imidacloprid is highly diluted when applied and the product label recommends saturation of the soil to an extent which will pull the imidacloprid to the absorptive root level (6" depth). This leaves little imidacloprid near the soil surface. Exposure to residents through soil contact is expected to be low.

It has been estimated by DPR (2006a) that the dermal absorption efficiency (the percent of a chemical which is transferred through the skin) of imidacloprid is approximately 8%. The low dermal absorption efficiency would limit the potential health hazard of this route if dermal exposure were to occur.

A screening-level dose is estimated for dermal exposure via contact with contaminated soil for children 2 to 8 years of age. It represents a worst case for the dermal exposure to soil pathway because children 2 to 8 years of age have an exposed body surface area adjusted for body weight that is higher than that of other ages including adults. Further, children of this age group are more likely to play in soil and be exposed through dermal contact.

Using the high-end total body surface area of 0.046 m²/kg body weight for a 2 to 8 year old child who has 34% of unclothed body surface area (OEHHA, 2012), a high-end soil adherence value of 5.9 g soil per kg body weight (OEHHA, 2012), a maximum imidacloprid soil level of 4250 μ g/kg soil (following soil application) (Knoepp et al., 2012), and a dermal absorption of 8% (DPR, 2006a), a screening-level dermal exposure dose is estimated as:

Absorbed Dose_{dermal}

- = 0.046 m²/kg body weight × 0.34 × 5.9 g/m² × 4250 μ g/kg × 0.08
- = 0.031 µg/kg body weight

Converting to nanograms (ng), the calculated dose can be expressed as 31 ng/kg body weight - day.

This dose is much less than established RfD values identified on page 26. It should be noted that the imidacloprid level in soil is taken from a study not related to the ACP control treatment. The value from the Knoepp et al. study is a surrogate to confirm that

the dermal exposure pathway is not significant. Dermal exposure to contaminated soil is not further evaluated in this assessment.

Inhalation Route

Inhalation exposure to the vapor phase of imidacloprid is not expected to occur for two main reasons. The first is that Merit $2F^{\text{@}}$ is applied as a diluted solution (not a spray) to a shallow trench in the soil at the base of the tree, a process which will not generate aerosols. The second is that imidacloprid will not volatilize from soil or water as it has a low vapor pressure (1.00 x 10^{-7} mm Hg at 20 °C) and Henry's Law Constant (6.5 x 10^{-11} atm m³/mole at 20°C) (Table 1).

Exposure to imidacloprid particles is not expected to occur because the label of the imidacloprid formulation used in the ACP treatment states that the soil should be saturated sufficiently to move the imidacloprid to the absorptive root level (6" soil depth). If there is residual imidacloprid on the soil surface, it is likely to be degraded within several hours if sunlight is present.

DPR collected more than 20 air samples near the treatment area following ACP treatments and did not detect imidacloprid (A. Arcus-Arth, OEHHA: personal communication with D. Kim, June 2014). For these reasons, inhalation is not considered significant exposure pathway and is not further evaluated in this assessment.

Dose Estimation for Consumption of Citrus Fruit, Leaves and Flowers

In this section, we identify exposure durations and subpopulations relevant to this exposure assessment. We estimate the extent of exposure associated with the significant exposure pathways identified in the previous section. These pathways are the consumption of citrus leaves, citrus flowers, and citrus fruit. We use the following general model to estimate dose from food consumption:

Equation 1

Where:

Dose	 imidacloprid dose from food consumption (µg/kg body weight for acute exposure and µg/kg body weight - day for subchronic exposure)
C CR L	 = concentration of imidacloprid in the food (μg/g or μg/ml) = consumption rate of the food item (g/kg body weight - day) = percent of consumed food item which is home grown (unitless)

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

17

Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015 The subscripts $_{\rm A}$ and $_{\rm SC}$ are used to denote acute and subchronic exposures, respectively.

Exposure durations modeled

Both acute and subchronic exposures are evaluated in this exposure assessment. Acute exposure is defined as an exposure that lasts less than 24 hours while subchronic exposure is defined as an exposure with a duration that ranges from more than one day to several years. Chronic exposure is not evaluated in this assessment. Chronic exposure is generally described as greater than 7-8 years (US EPA, 1989; OEHHA, 2008). It is very unlikely that a particular property would be treated for the control of ACP for more than 7-8 consecutive years. Imidacloprid levels in citrus fruit can remain above the detection limit for more than one year after soil application (Joint FAO/WHO, 2002), but decrease over time after the last application.

Evaluation of the citrus fruit consumption pathway

In a number of field studies, imidacloprid residues have been detected in citrus fruit following soil applications (Joint FAO/WHO, 2002; Blasco et al., 2005; Castle et al., 2005). Low levels of imidacloprid were found in approximately a third of the fruit samples collected from citrus trees following treatment in the ACP program (DPR, 2011). Based on the DPR monitoring results and the fairly large serving sizes of citrus fruit (e.g., orange juice), it is determined that the consumption of fresh citrus fruit and of food and beverages made from citrus fruit are likely exposure pathways.

Resident groups modeled

In order to ensure the evaluation is health protective, exposures to three different groups are independently evaluated for this pathway. The three groups are defined as follows:

- Adults: 19 years of age and older
- Women of child-bearing age: females 13 to 49 years old
- Young children: 1 and 2 year olds

The "adults" group represents the general population. The other two groups represent sensitive or susceptible individuals. A developmental neurotoxicity study (DPR, 2006a) suggests that the developing fetus may be more susceptible to imidacloprid than adults. Since fetuses are exposed to environmental chemicals through their mothers, women of child-bearing age are used as a surrogate to represent this group.

Young children have higher food and fluid consumption rates on a per body weight basis (grams consumed per kg body weight) than older children and adults, with one and two year-olds having the highest rates. For this reason, children one and two years-old are identified as a sensitive group. Exposures to children and teenagers not specifically estimated in this evaluation and are expected to be lower than that determined for the one- and two-year-old children.

Variates used in the exposure models of fruit consumption

This section describes the method used in estimating the variate values which will be used in the exposure model (Equation 1) for acute and subchronic exposures.

Imidacloprid residues in fruit from ACP-treated trees (C_A and C_{SC})

DPR monitored imidacloprid residue levels in citrus fruit as part of CDFA's treatment program (DPR, 2011). Only mature fruit from orange and lemon trees were sampled. Each sample was a composite of several fruit from a single tree or from the same type of tree (i.e., either orange or lemon) at one residential site. Monitoring results provided by DPR show there are a total of 53 orange and lemon samples, which were collected from 31 residential sites in Southern California. The whole fruit (i.e., rind, pulp, and juice) was analyzed in the study.

Samples that were labeled as "0 weeks after treatment" were collected up to one week post-application (A. Arcus-Arth, OEHHA; personal communication with D. Kim, DPR, 2012) and had no detectable imidacloprid levels. Because it takes time for imidacloprid to migrate from soil to roots and then be distributed throughout the tree, one week is likely insufficient for imidacloprid to be transported into fruit. For this reason, samples labeled as "0 weeks after treatment" are considered background and are not included in analyses for this exposure assessment. Only "post-application" samples are analyzed.

Sample type	Lemon	Orange	Lemon + Orange
Background	4	5	9
Post-application	27	17	44
Total	31	22	53

Table 3. Number of Fruit Samples Collected from ACP Treated Trees

*Data from DPR, 2011

In laboratory analyses for chemical residues, there can be uncertainty as to whether a chemical is absent or if the chemical level is too low to be detected by laboratory instruments. Each laboratory develops a reporting limit level for each chemical depending on the chemical's specific sample preparation and analytical methods. The citrus fruit samples were analyzed by more than one laboratory resulting in multiple reporting limits for the dataset. DPR reported measurements that are below the

19

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015 reporting limit as "non-detectable" (ND) and reported detectable levels as the value that was measured. Table B2 in Appendix B lists the raw data reported by DPR from the post-application samples.

Of the post-application samples, 29 (66%) are non-detects (ND) and 15 (34%) have quantifiable levels of imidacloprid (see Table 4, below).

Range of Detection	Lemon	Orange	Total
Below reporting limit (ND)	16 (59%)	13 (76%)	29 (66%)
Above reporting limit	11 (41%)	4 (24%)	15 (34%)
Total	27	17	44

Table 4	Post-Application Sam	nles Above or	Below the Re	porting Limit
	r ust-Application Sam		Delow the K	sporting Linne

*Data from DPR, 2011

A software program (ProUCL) developed by US EPA (US EPA, 2011b) is used to analyze the citrus fruit imidacloprid residue data and estimate the summary statistics (e.g., mean and 95th percentile values). Rather than assuming that all NDs represent zero levels of the chemical, the program considers the possibility that some NDs represent the presence of a chemical that cannot be quantitatively measured. It uses information from the dataset to estimate the extent to which values may represent the absence or the very low level presence of a chemical.

The specific methods used in ProUCL depend on the dataset being analyzed. The fruit sample data do not fit the normal or lognormal distribution and are best analyzed using an approach that does not use a specific distribution (i.e., a nonparametric approach). Because the samples were analyzed by multiple laboratories which have different reporting limits, the reporting limit of some samples is different from others. In ProUCL, the approach which is nonparametric and can handle multiple reporting limits (cutoff values) is the Kaplan Meier approach. This approach is selected to analyze the fruit sample data and the results are provided in Table 5, below. Additional details of the analysis are provided in Appendix B.

Parameter	Imidacloprid (µg/g)
Mean	0.023
Standard Deviation	0.038
Standard Error of the Mean	0.006
90th percentile	0.071
95th percentile	0.085
Maximum	0.226

Table 5. Summary Statistics of Imidacloprid Residues in Citrus Fruit

*analyzed using Kaplan Meier methodology in US EPA (2011b, ProUCL 4.1; see Appendix B) *data from DPR, 2011

For this assessment, the mean residue level values are used for estimating the central tendency doses for acute and subchronic exposures. The maximum residue level is

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015 used to estimate the high-end dose for acute exposure. This is a health-protective approach as it assumes all citrus food consumed by an individual in one day has the highest imidacloprid level measured by the monitoring program. The same approach is not used for estimating the high-end dose for subchronic exposure as it is unlikely that an individual would be exposed to the maximum residue level over many weeks or months. Instead, the mean residue level is used to estimate high-end subchronic exposure dose. A similar approach is used by California's Air Toxics Hot Spots program (OEHHA, 2012).

Exposure	Dose Estimate	Statistic	Concentration (µg/g) ¹
Acute	Central tendency	Mean	0.023
	High-end	Maximum	0.226
Subchronic	Central tendency	Mean	0.023
	High-end	Mean	0.023

¹Some residue values were reported to two significant digits, while the maximum value (0.226 μ g/g) was reported to three significant digits.

The DPR imidacloprid analyses were conducted on the whole fruit. There is uncertainty as to the uniformity of imidacloprid levels among different parts of citrus fruit (e.g., pulp and peel). For the purpose of this assessment, it is assumed that imidacloprid is uniformly distributed throughout the fruit.

Citrus fruit consumption rates (CRA and CRSC)

National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data collected between 1999 and 2004 (CDC, 1999-2004) were used to estimate citrus fruit consumption rate (CR_A and CR_{SC}), that is, the grams of citrus fruit and foods made from citrus fruit that are consumed, normalized by body weight in kilograms. OEHHA chose this dataset for several reasons. The survey is nation-wide and is designed to provide estimates which are representative of the U.S. population. It is fairly recent and thus reflective of current eating trends. In addition, the sample sizes for most subpopulations are sufficiently large to provide relatively robust estimates, and the accuracy of the collection methodology has been validated. It contains detailed 24-hour dietary intake and serving information (e.g., one-half medium grapefruit, one slice of toast with one tablespoon orange marmalade), body weight measurements, and other relevant data in two-year survey cycles. Several kinds of citrus fruit are recognized in the survey: grapefruit, kumquat, tangerine, orange, lemon, and lime. NHANES analyzed the collected information then converted the intake data into consumption data (e.g., grams of orange - day). The consumption data applies only to the edible portion of the food.

While an individual can consume a dish, food product, or beverage that contains citrus fruit as one of the many ingredients (e.g., fruit salad with tangerine segments, fruit juice blend), NHANES data do not specify the exact proportion of citrus in these mixtures.

21

Office of Environmental Health	
Hazard Assessment	

Exposure to Imidaclo	prid for
ACP Control	-
June 2015	

Instead of arbitrarily assigning proportions of citrus to a mixture, this assessment limits the analyses to citrus-only food items plus two fruit juice blends which are likely to contain at least 50% citrus. For these two fruit juice blends, the amount of citrus consumed is assumed to be one-half of the reported consumption of the juice blend. Thus, the estimated consumption rate includes citrus fruit (e.g., whole kumquats, tangerine segments), citrus fruit juice (orange, lemon, lime, tangerine, and grapefruit), and two citrus fruit juice blends.

In order to calculate citrus consumption rates (g citrus per kg body weight - day), this assessment first summed the amount of citrus consumed by each participant in the day chosen for the survey. Then, each individual's daily consumption of citrus is divided by his/her body weight (also provided by NHANES) to derive grams of citrus fruit consumed per kg body weight - day. The compiled data set includes all participants who reported at least some citrus consumption and for whom body weight measurements are available.

The estimated CR_A values for the three age-gender groups are shown in Table 7.

CR _A (g/kg body weight - day)				
SubpopulationSample SizeCentral tendency (mean)High (95th pe				
1<3 years	240	17.4	51.0	
Female 13<50 years	1528	4.03	10.8	
Adult >18 years	3861	3.53	9.20	

 Table 7. One Day Citrus Fruit Consumption Rates

Analyzed by ÓEHHA (2012), based on NHANES 1999-2004 (CDC, 1999-2004)

One limitation of the NHANES 1999-2004 data is that it did not collect longitudinal consumption data, i.e., data collected over long periods of time on each individual. Instead only one or two days of consumption are recorded. This limitation is especially important for foods not consumed on a daily basis, such as some types of citrus, for which long term consumption rates are needed. To estimate daily citrus fruit consumption averaged over a long period (subchronic, one year (CR_{SC})), the amount consumed on a consumption day (g/kg body weight - day) by an individual can be used together with that person's frequency of consumption (days/year). Consumption frequency data are only available in NHANES 2003-2004; therefore only NHANES 2003-2004 was used.

For subchronic exposure dose calculations in this assessment, the mean and the 95^{th} -percentile of CR_{SC} data are used. The estimated CR_{SC} values for the three resident groups are shown in Table 8.

	CR _{sc} (g fruit / kg	body weight – day)	
Subpopulation	Sample size	Mean	95th-percentile
1<3years	66	12.0	50.4
Female 13<50 years	393	2.26	8.0
Adult >18 years	984	2.25	6.9

Table 8. Daily Citrus Fruit Consumption Rate Averaged Over One Year

Fraction of citrus fruit consumed from trees treated for ACP

This risk assessment evaluates risk from exposure to imidacloprid via the consumption of citrus fruit from trees in residential yards, community gardens and parks that have been treated for the control of ACP. However, individuals may also consume citrus fruit from commercial sources such as supermarkets, grocery stores and farmers markets. The variate L is defined as the ratio of the amount of citrus fruit consumed that is from ACP-treated trees to the total amount of citrus fruit consumed. For acute oral exposures, L is assumed to be 1.0 (100 percent). For acute exposures, all of the citrus fruit an individual consumes during one day may come from ACP treated trees.

For subchronic exposures, it is not appropriate to assume that all the citrus fruit consumed by an individual over months or years (the subchronic time period) is from ACP-treated trees. OEHHA (2012) developed an L of 0.16 (16 percent) for the consumption of all fruit by households that farm which is home grown. The value 0.16 is used for subchronic exposure assessments.

Calculation of imidacloprid dose from citrus fruit consumption

Acute exposure from citrus fruit consumption is determined by using Equation 1 and the variate values presented in Table 9. The resulting dose estimates are presented in Table 10.

Table 9.	Variate	Values	Used for	Acute Ex	kposure	Imidaclo	prid Doses
	Variato	V araoo	0000101		Apooulo	maaolo	

	Central tendency estimate ¹	High-end estimate ²
CR _A (g/kg body weight)		
1<3 years	17.4	51.0
Female 13-49 years	4.03	10.8
Adult > 18 years	3.53	9.20
L _A (unitless)	1.0	1.0
C _A (µg imidacloprid / g fruit)	0.023	0.226

 1 central tendency estimates are the mean values for CR_A and C_A

 2 high-end estimates are the 95th-percentile for CR_A and the maximum value for C_A

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment

	D _A (μg/kg body weight day)	
Subpopulation	Central tendency	High-end
1<3 years	0.400	11.5
Female 13-49 years	0.093	2.45
Adult > 18 years	0.081	2.07

Table 10. Calculated Acute Exposure Imidacloprid Doses

Subchronic exposure from citrus fruit consumption is determined by using Equation 3 and the variate values presented in Table 11. The resulting dose estimates are presented in Table 12.

Variate	Central tendency estimate ¹	High-end estimate ²
CR _{sc} (g/kg body weight - day		
averaged over a year)		
1<3 years	12.0	50.4
Female 13-49 years	2.26	8.0
Adults >18 years	2.25	6.9
L (unitless)	0.16	0.16
C (µg imidacloprid / gram fruit)	0.023	0.023

¹ central tendency estimates are the mean values for CR_{SC} and C_{SC} ² high-end estimates are the 95th-percentile for CR_{SC} and the mean value for C_{SC}

D _{sc} (μg/kg body weight - day)		
Subpopulation	Central tendency	High-end
1<3 years	0.044	0.185
Females 13-49 years	0.008	0.029
Adults > 18 years	0.008	0.025

*daily doses averaged over one year

In order to put the estimated doses in perspective, acute, acute developmental, and subchronic RfDs developed by DPR (DPR, 2006a) and US EPA (US EPA, 2013) are provided below:

<u>DPR</u>

- Acute RfD
- Acute developmental RfD
- Subchronic RfD

<u>US EPA</u>

70 µg/kg body weight - day

90 µg/kg body weight 60 µg/kg body weight

Acute RfD 140 μg/kg body weight
 Incidental and intermediate term (1 day – 6 months) RfD 100 μg/kg body weight - day

A comparison of the acute and subchronic high-end dose estimates of the three resident groups calculated above with the corresponding acute and subchronic (or intermediate) RfDs developed by DPR and US EPA shows that exposure to imidacloprid residues in home grown citrus fruit from trees treated in the ACP program is not likely to pose a health hazard to residents.

Evaluation of the citrus leaf consumption pathway

As noted above, imidacloprid residues have been detected in citrus leaves following soil application of imidacloprid (Tattar et al., 1998; Setamou et al., 2010). Imidacloprid exposure via consumption of food and beverages made from the contaminated leaves could occur. Only acute exposure is considered for this consumption pathway. Model variate values in an acute exposure calculation are often higher than those in a subchronic exposure calculation. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an individual would consume citrus leaves on a daily basis for an extended period of time. For these reasons, subchronic exposure dose to citrus leaf consumption is not estimated in this assessment.

CDFA collected leaf samples from ACP-treated citrus trees in 2010. The imidacloprid citrus leaf residue data were shared with OEHHA (A. Arcus-Arth, OEHHA: personal communication with F. Byrne, University of California, Riverside, April 2011). The leaf residue data set has a total of 237 samples with mean, 95th-percentile, and maximum values of 2.0, 6.1, and 7.7 ppm (μ g/g), respectively. For this screening-level evaluation, the maximum leaf residue level is used in the estimation of acute exposure (C_{A-Leaf}).

In order to estimate leaf CR for acute exposures (CR_{A-Leaf}), online recipes were searched for food dishes that use citrus leaf as an ingredient. Though it is not common, citrus leaves are used in food and beverages, particularly by certain ethnic and cultural groups. Among the recipes, Thai fish cake (also known as Tod Mun) seems to use the highest number of citrus leaves per serving (approximately one leaf per serving, which is equivalent to one leaf per 110 grams or $\frac{1}{4}$ pound of fish cake). Very young children (toddlers) generally have higher food consumption rates on a body weight basis than older children and adults so this age group is often used in risk assessment to represent a highly exposed subpopulation. However, since children this young tend to consume bland or sweet food items, they are less likely to consume spicy, tangy foods such as Thai fish cakes. The 6-10 year old age group is chosen as an age group likely to consume Thai fish cakes at high consumption rates. The dose on a body weight basis of this group is expected to be higher than that of other age groups (e.g., teenagers and adults).

It is assumed that a child 6-10 years of age with an average body weight of 32 kg (US EPA, 2011a) could consume as much as two servings of fish cakes (about $\frac{1}{4}$ pound each) in one day. Assuming a citrus leaf weighs approximately 0.55 grams (Martin et al., 1966), CR_{A-Leaf} can be calculated as follows:

CR_{A-Leaf} = [(2 servings x 0.55 g/serving)/32 kg] = 0.034 g of leaves/kg body weight

Since, in one day, all consumed citrus leaves can be home grown, L_{A-Leaf} is assumed to be 1.0 (equivalent to 100 percent).

Using Equation 1, the maximal leaf imidacloprid level, and assumptions described above, a high-end acute oral dose of 0.26 μ g/kg is estimated for a 6-10 year old child:

As calculated above, a high-end dose estimate of 11.5 μ g/kg body weight is determined for an acute exposure by a young child (1-2 years old) consuming fruit. This dose from fruit is roughly 44 times higher than the estimated acute dose for citrus leaf consumption (0.26 μ g/kg body weight). This comparison shows that the citrus leaf consumption pathway is a minor exposure pathway and would not make a significant contribution to the overall dose.

Evaluation of the citrus flower consumption pathway

Citrus flowers are sometimes used in foods, such as salads, and for making beverages or jams. To evaluate the significance of the citrus flower consumption pathway, similar to citrus leaf consumption, an acute exposure assessment is conducted to provide a screening level dose. There are no flower residue data specific to the ACP program. However, flower residue levels from soil application to citrus trees are available in the open literature with a high-end value of 90 ng imidacloprid/ml nectar (Byrnes, 2014). This estimate of imidacloprid residue in citrus flowers is used in this screening-level evaluation.

It is further assumed that there is 22.8 μ l of nectar in a citrus flower (Albrigo et al., 2012) and a citrus flower weighs 0.5 g (Castillo et al., 1991). The concentration of imidacloprid in citrus flowers is calculated as:

 $C_{A-flower} = 90 \text{ ng/ml} \times 22.8 \ \mu \text{l/flower} \times \text{flower/0.5 g} \times \text{ml/1000} \mu \text{l}$ = 4.1 ng imidacloprid/g flower

As a rough estimate of flower consumption rates, two online recipes for orange blossom jam provide information from which 37 and 42 grams of orange flower consumption are derived (Helou, 2013; and Masoudansari, 2014). These rates are for adults; no data on citrus flower consumption rates for children were found. The adult consumption rate of 42 grams of citrus flowers consumed in one day are normalized by the mean adult (16<70 years of age) body weight of 80 kg (OEHHA, 2012) to derive 0.525 g flowers/kg body weight - day.

Dose is derived as:

Dose_{A-flower} = $C_{A-flower} \times CR_{A-flower} \times L_{A-flower}$ = 4.2 ng/g flower × 0.525 g flowers/kg body weight - day × 1.0 = 2.21 ng/kg body weight - day

The calculated Dose_{A-flower} is much lower than the dose from acute citrus fruit consumption. This exposure pathway is considered minor and not likely to contribute significantly to overall dose.

Uncertainties

A number of uncertainties have been identified in this evaluation and they are discussed below:

- 1. The sample size of the imidacloprid levels in citrus fruit dataset is relatively small (44 samples) and many samples (over 60%) are below detection limits. This might lead to an over-estimate or under-estimate of true imidacloprid levels in citrus fruit.
- 2. Most of the samples with detectable levels are from lemon trees; only four orange samples have detectable levels. Also, the four highest contaminant levels (0.08 ppm 0.226 ppm) are found in lemons. By contrast, the highest contaminant level found in the orange samples is 0.03 ppm. In order to reduce the uncertainty associated with small sample sizes, the orange and lemon samples are combined in this assessment. By doing so, it is assumed that the absorption, distribution,

27

metabolism, and accumulation of imidacloprid in lemon and orange trees are similar. Consumption rate of oranges is generally higher than that of lemons. If this assumption is not correct, calculated imidacloprid doses may not be accurate.

3. The imidacloprid residue levels reported by DPR are based on the whole fruit. Studies have shown that imidacloprid applied to soil may distribute itself differently in peel and pulp. This assessment assumes imidacloprid is uniformly distributed throughout the fruit. This assumption may lead to over- or under-estimation of exposure.

Conclusion

OEHHA considered potential exposure to imidacloprid following soil application by CDFA for residential control of ACP and found that consumption of citrus fruit is the only significant pathway. This pathway is quantitatively evaluated using citrus fruit residue data provided by DPR that is specific to the ACP treatment. The results show that imidacloprid doses associated with this pathway are relatively low and are not likely to pose a health hazard to residents whose yards are treated by CDFA for ACP.

References

Albrigo LG, Russ R, Rouseff R, Basemore RA (2012). Some citrus flower characteristics and honey bee preference. *Proc Fla State Hort Soc*. 125:112–118.

Blasco C, Font G, Manes J, Pico Y (2005). Screening and evaluation of fruit samples for four pesticide residues. *J AOAC Intl.* 88(3):847-853.

Byrnes F, Visscher PK, Leimkuehler B, Fischer D, Grafton-Cardwell EE, Morse JG (2014). Determination of exposure levels of honey bees foraging on flowers of mature citrus trees previously treated with imidacloprid. *Pest Manag Sci.* 70(3):470-82.

California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) (2012a). Huanglongbing pathogen pest profile. Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.cdfa.ca.gov/plant/pdep/target_pest_disease_profiles/HLB_PestProfile.html</u>

California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) (2012b). Citrus Disease Huanglongbing Detected in Hacienda Heights Area of Los Angeles County [Press Release]. Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: http://www.cdfa.ca.gov/egov/Press_Releases/Press_Release.asp?PRnum=12-012

California Department of Public Health (CDPH) (2005). Sanitation and Radiation Laboratories Branch. Detection Limits: Definition and Explanation of Terms. Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/drinkingwater/Documents/Drinkingwaterlabs/detectionlimi</u>

tsdefinition.pdf

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) (2007). Canadian Water Quality Guidelines: Imidacloprid. Scientific Supporting Document. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, Canada. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.ccme.ca/files/Resources/supporting_scientific_documents/imidacloprid_ssd_1388.pdf</u>

Castillo J, Benavente O, del Rio JA (1992). Naringin and neohesperidin levels during development of leaves, flower buds, and fruits of Citrus aurantium. *Plant Physiol*. 99:67-73.

Castle SJ, Byrne FJ, Bi JL, Toscano NC (2005). Spatial and temporal distribution of imidacloprid and thiamethoxam in citrus and impact on Homalodisca coagulata populations. *Pest Manag Sci.* 61:75-84.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (1999-2004). National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Data and Questionnaires. Hyattsville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, [1999-2004]. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/nhanes_questionnaires.htm</u>

Corl E, Owens R, Pollack A (2002). Laboratory detection and reporting limit issues related to risk assessment. Issue Paper. Naval Facilities Engineering, US Navy. pp.1-16. April 2002. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.med.navy.mil/sites/nmcphc/Documents/environmental-programs/riskassessment/Laboratory_dectection.pdf

Cox L, Hermosin M, Cornero J (2004). Influence of organic amendments on sorption and dissipation of imidacloprid in soil. *Intern J Environ Anal Chem.* 84(1–3):95-102. January–March 2004.

Cox L, Koskinen WC, Cells R, Yen PY, Hermosin MC, Cornejo J (1998). Sorption of imidacloprid on soil clay mineral and organic components. *Soil Sci Soc Am J.* 62:911-915.

Department of Pesticide Regulation (DPR) (2006a). Imidacloprid: Risk Characterization Document - Dietary and Drinking Water Exposure. Medical Toxicology Branch, Department of Pesticide Regulation, California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: http://www.DPR.ca.gov/docs/risk/rcd/imidacloprid.pdf

Department of Pesticide Regulation (DPR) (2006b). Environmental Fate of Imidacloprid. Revised by Fossen M. April 2006. Environmental Monitoring Branch, Department of Pesticide Regulation, California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.cdpr.ca.gov/docs/emon/pubs/fatememo/Imidclprdfate2.pdf

Department of Pesticide Regulation (DPR) (2011). Memorandum Subject: Preliminary results for the 2009-2010 fruit monitoring of imidacloprid and cyfluthrin used in the Asian Citrus Psyllid Eradication program in Imperial, San Diego, and Los Angeles Counties. D. Kim. July, 29, 2011. Environmental Monitoring Branch. Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.DPR.ca.gov/docs/emon/epests/asiancitruspsyllid/acp_fruit_prelimin_results_j uly_2011.pdf

Department of Pesticide Regulation (DPR) (2013). Sampling for Pesticide Residues in California Well Water: 2012 Update. 27th Annual Report. Environmental Monitoring Branch, Department of Pesticide Regulation, California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: http://www.cdpr.ca.gov/docs/emon/pubs/ehapreps/eh2012.pdf

Felsot AS, Cone W, Yu J, Ruppert JR (1998). Distribution of imidacloprid in soil following subsurface drip chemigation. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*. 60:363–370.

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment

30

Fernandez-Perez M, Gonzalez-Pradas E, Urena-Amate MD (1998). Controlled release of imidacloprid from a lignin matrix: water release kinetics and soil mobility study. *J Agric Food Chem.* 46:3828-3834.

Gupta S, Gajbhiye VT, Kalpana, Agnihotri NP (2002). Leaching behavior of imidacloprid formulations in soil. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol.* 68:502–508.

Helou A (2013). Orange Blossom Jam. Anissa's Blog, April 30, 2013. Accessed Dec 29, 2014 at: <u>http://www.anissas.com/orange-blossom-jam/</u>

Hodges AW, Spreen TH (2012). Economic Impacts of Citrus Greening (HLB) in Florida, 2006/07–2010/11. University of Florida, IFAS Extension. Gainesville, FL. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/FE/FE90300.pdf</u>

Hovda LR, Hooser SB (2002). Toxicology of newer pesticides for use in dogs and cats. *Vet Clin Small Anim.* 32:455-467.

Koester J (1990). Comparative Metabolism of [pyridiny1-14C]NTN 33893 in plant cell suspension cultures. Bayer AG, W-5090 Leverkusen-Bayerwerk. DPR Document # 51950-0078 Study # 120671.

Joint Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization (FAO/WHO) (2002). Monograph, Vol 2, Imidacloprid (206): First draft by Banasiak U. Joint Meeting on Pesticide Residues (JMPR) in 2006. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations / World Health Organization (FAO/WHO):687-1007. Accessed Dec 29, 2014 at: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/agphome/documents/Pests_Pesticides/JMPR/Evaluation02/IMIDA_EVjjb.pdf

Junior RP, Smelt JH, Boesten JJ, Hendriks RF, van der Zee SE (2004). Preferential flow of bromide, bentazon, and imidacloprid in a Dutch clay soil. *J Environ Qual*. 33:1473-1486.

Knoepp JD, Vose JM, Michael JL, Reynolds BC (2012). Imidacloprid movement in soils and impacts on soil microarthropods in Southern Appalachian Eastern Hemlock stands. *J Environ Qual.* 41:469-478.

Krischik VA, Landmark AL, Heimpel GE (2007). Soil-applied imidacloprid is translocated to nectar and kills nectar-feeding Anagyrus pseudococci (Girault) (Hymenoptera: Encyrtidae). *Environ Entomol.* 36(5):1238-1245.

Masoudansari F (2014). Recipe of Orange Blossom Jam (Morabbayeh Bahar Narenge). Blogpost: FarziFood.com. Accessed Dec 29, 2014 at: <u>http://www.farzifood.com/en/recipe/morabbayeh-bahar-narenge-eng.aspx</u>

31

Martin JT, Baker EA, Byrde RJW (1966). The fungitoxicities of cuticular and cellular components of citrus lime leaves. *Ann Appl Biol.* 57(3):491-500.

McGaughey B, Giddings JM, Turner L, Gagne J, Dickson G, Campana D, et al. (2013). Risk Assessment for Use of Imidacloprid to Control Burrowing Shrimp in Shellfish Beds of Willapa Bay and Grays Harbor, WA. Prepared by: Compliance Services International. Project ID: CSI 13707. June 14, 2013. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wq/pesticides/imidacloprid/docs/ImidaclopridRiskAsse ssment.pdf

National Research Council (NRC) (2010). Strategic Planning for the Florida Citrus Industry: Addressing Citrus Greening Disease. Committee on the Strategic Planning for the Florida Citrus Industry: Addressing Citrus Greening Disease (Huanglongbing). Board on Agriculture and Natural Resources. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) (2008). Air Toxics Hot Spots Risk Assessment Guidelines: Technical Support Document for the Derivation of Noncancer Chronic Reference Exposure Levels. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30,2014 at: <u>http://www.oehha.ca.gov/air/hot_spots/2008/NoncancerTSD_final.pdf</u>

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) (2012). Air Toxics Hot Spots Risk Assessment Guidelines: Technical Support Document for the Exposure Assessment and Stochastic Analysis. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, Sacramento, CA. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.oehha.ca.gov/air/hot_spots/tsd082712.html</u>

Oi M (1999). Time-dependent sorption of imidacloprid in two different soils. *J Agric Food Chem.* 47:327-332.

Oliver DP, Kookana RS, Quintana B (2005). Sorption of pesticides in tropical and temperate soils from Australia and the Philippines. *J Agric Food Chem.* 53:6420-6425.

Papiernik SK, Koskinen WC, Cox L, Rice PJ, Clay SA, Werdin-Pfisterere NR, Norberg KA (2006). Sorption-desorption of imidacloprid and its metabolites in soil and vadose zone materials. *J Agric Food Chem.* 54:8163-8170.

32

Rouchard J, Gustin F, Wauters A (1994). Soil biodegradation and leaf transfer of insecticide imidacloprid applied in seed dressing in sugar beet crops. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*. 53:344-350.

Rouchard J, Gustin F, Wauters A (1996). Imidacloprid insecticide soil metabolism in sugar beet field crops. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*. 56:29-36.

Sammani P, Vishwakarma K, Pandey SY (2013). Persistence study of imidacloprid in different soils under laboratory conditions. *Int J Environ Sci.* 4(2):151-157. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: http://www.ipublishing.co.in/ijesarticles/thirteen/articles/volfour/EIJES41016.pdf

Sarkar MA, Biswas PK, Roy S, Kole RK, Chowdhury A (1999). Effect of pH and type of formulation on the persistence of imidacloprid in water. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol.* 63(5):604–609.

Scholz K, Spiteller M (1992). Influence of groundcover on the degradation of ¹⁴Cimidacloprid in soil. Proceedings of the Brighton Crop Protection Conference 1992: pests and diseases. British Crop Protection Council. Printed by Lavenham Press Limited, Lavenham, Suffolk.

Serikawa RH, Backus EA, Rogers ME (2012). Effects of soil-applied imidacloprid on Asian citrus psyllid (Hemiptera: Psyllidae) feeding behavior. *J Econ Entomol.* 105(5):1492-502.

Sétamou M, Rodriguez D, Saldana R, Schwarzlose G, Palrang D, Nelson SD (2010). Efficacy and uptake of soil-applied imidacloprid in the control of Asian citrus psyllid and a citrus leafminer, two foliar-feeding citrus pests. *J Econ Entomol.* 103(5):1711-1719. October 2010.

Starner K, Goh KS (2012). Detections of the neonicotinoid insecticide imidacloprid in surface waters of three agricultural regions of California, USA, 2010–2011. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol.* 88(3):316-321.

Sur R, Stork A (2003). Uptake, translocation and metabolism of imidacloprid in plants. *Bull Insectol.* 56 (1):35-40.

Tattar TA, Dotson JA, Ruizzo MS, Steward VB (1998). Translocation of imidacloprid in three tree species when trunk- and soil-injected. *J Arboric.* 24(1):54-56. January 1998.

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) (2005). Imidacloprid: human health and ecological risk assessment. Final report. Prepared by Syracuse Environmental Research Associates. SERA TR 05-43-24-03a. Submitted to USDA Forest Service. December 28, 2005.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (1989). Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund. Volume I. Human health evaluation manual (Part A). Interim

final. EPA/540/1-89/002. Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C. December 1989.

Unites States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2007). Product chemistry review of imidacloprid technical TGAI/MUP. Office of Pesticide Programs, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C. August 6, 2007.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) 2011a. Exposure Factors Handbook, Chapter 8: Body Weight Studies. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: http://www.epa.gov/ncea/efh/pdfs/efh-chapter08.pdf

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2011b). ProUCL 4.1: Statistical Software for Environmental Applications for Data Sets with and without Nondetect Observations. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/osp/hstl/tsc/software.htm</u>

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2013). Imidacloprid. Section 3 Request for use on Oyster Beds in Washington (WA), and Section 18 Emergency Exemption Request for use on Sugarcane in Louisiana (LA). Human-Health Risk Assessment. Office of Chemical Safety and Pollution Protection, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.

United States Food and Drug Agency (US FDA) (2014). [71 FR 42044, July 25, 2006]. Updated September 1, 2014. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=101.44</u>

United States Geological Survey (USGS) (2014). Southern California Basin Network. Office of Groundwater, USGS. Last updated Feb 2014. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at: <u>http://groundwaterwatch.usgs.gov/SCB/StateMaps/SCB.html</u>

Grafton-Cardwell EE, Daugherty MP (2013). Asian Citrus Psyllid and Huanglongbing Disease. University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources, Statewide Integrated Pest Management Program, Pest Notes. Publication 74155. August 2013. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.ipm.ucdavis.edu/PMG/PESTNOTES/pn74155.html

Zweigenbaum J, Zavitsanos P, Ferrer I, Thurman M (2013). Identification of imidacloprid metabolites in onions using high resolution mass spectrometry and accurate mass tools. ASMS 61st Conference on Mass Spectrometry & Allied Topics. Accessed Dec 30, 2014 at:

http://www.chem.agilent.com/Library/posters/Public/ASMS_2013_TOG_330_Zweigenba um_ID_of_Imidacloprid_Metabolites.pdf

Appendix A

Effects on imidacloprid levels of fruit processing, freezing, and storage

Several studies have shown that freezing, cooking, processing, and other storage methods have only slight effects on imidacloprid levels in citrus fruit. Some of the studies are discussed below:

A hydrolysis study was conducted to determine the effects of processing on imidacloprid residues. Radioactively labeled imidacloprid was subjected to 90-120 °C for 20-120 minutes at pH levels of 4-6. The results showed that imidacloprid was stable after simulated pasteurization, baking/boiling and sterilization. The Joint Meeting on Pesticide Residues (FAO/WHO, 2002) concluded that "considering the hydrolytic stability under the conditions tested, it is not expected that hydrolysis will contribute to the degradation of imidacloprid or affect the nature of imidacloprid residues during processing."

Freezer stability studies on imidacloprid and its metabolites were conducted on whole lemons fortified with approximately 1 mg/kg imidacloprid and stored at an average of - 19.2°C for various periods of time. Residues of imidacloprid and its metabolites ranged from 91-96% of initial radiolabeling for up to two years (FAO/WHO, 2002). Though our concern is for residues in citrus, this study supports the potential for exposure to imidacloprid over subchronic periods from stored produce treated with imidacloprid.

There is a study which investigated the effects of processing of citrus fruit into edible products on imidacloprid levels (reported in FAO/WHO, 2002). Raw citrus fruit with residue levels of 0.12, 0.20, and 0.19 mg/kg for oranges and 0.26 mg/kg for lemons were processed into juice, marmalade, and dried pulp. The juice and dried pulp were both processed using commercial methods and the results are not applicable to this assessment regarding home grown citrus. For marmalade, the study attempted to simulate "typical household production" of orange marmalade. This involved slicing the peel into small strips and combining it with the pulp in a ratio of one part pulp to 0.8 parts peel. The peel/pulp mixture was combined with sugar and a gelling agent and cooked for 5 minutes. A processing factor was then calculated by dividing the mg/kg residue in the processed product by the mg/kg residue in the raw whole fruit. The processing factor incorporates changes in residue levels from dilution or dehvdration as well as effects from heating, freezing, chemical reactions, etc. The processing factor for marmalade is 0.625, which is interpreted as the final product having approximately 62.5% of the original raw whole fruit. This suggests that imidacloprid levels were still fairly high even after dilution from the addition of other ingredients and following "cooking" for five minutes (no specific temperature given but candies tend to "cook" at temperatures of 210-250°F).

A study was conducted to evaluate the stability of imidacloprid in frozen citrus. Whole lemons were fortified with ¹⁴C-labelled imidacloprid and associated metabolites at 6.414 ppm and stored in a freezer at an average of -19.2°C (range -4.7° to -23.9° C). At 0, 3, 6, 9, and 12 months, the percent remaining of total residue was 92, 93, 95, 96, and 91 percent, respectively (Morishima, 1992a,b;1994, as cited in FAO/WHO, 2002). The result shows imidacloprid levels are essentially the same at month 0 as at month 12. A similar study was conducted with oranges which were fortified with both imidacloprid and four metabolites and then frozen. Samples were analyzed several times from 0-21 months post-fortification. Recovery rates ranged from 84-128% after analytic corrections (FAO/WHO, 2002). Imidacloprid appears to be relatively stable during frozen storage, with possible slight reductions in levels.

Appendix B

Imidacloprid levels in fruit from ACP treated citrus trees

This appendix describes the type and number of citrus fruit samples collected and analyzed by DPR (2011) as part of the environmental monitoring of the ACP treatment program. Certain characteristics of the samples and approach used in the data evaluation are also discussed.

Fruit from lemon and orange trees treated for ACP at 31 residential sites in Southern California were sampled between 2009 and 2010. There were a total of 53 samples. Each samples was labeled as "background", "0 weeks after treatment" or at specified times post-application.

All the "0 weeks after treatment" samples were below detection limits. Because it takes time for imidacloprid in soil to be taken up by the treated tree and distributed to the fruit, it is unlikely that a significant amount of imidacloprid would have reached the fruit in less than one week. For the purpose of this assessment, the "0 weeks after treatment" samples are considered as background samples.

The sampling program only collected mature fruit, and each analytical sample was a composite of several fruit from a single tree or from the same type of tree (i.e., either orange or lemon) at one residential site. The analyses were conducted on the whole fruit (i.e., rind, juice, pulp, albedo). Table B1, below, summarizes sample sizes of the collected citrus fruit.

Treatment period	Lemon	Orange	Total (lemon + orange)
Pre-treatment	1	3	4
"0 wks after treatment"	3	2	5
Total background	4	5	9
Total post-application	27	17	44
Total	31	22	53

Table B1.	Sample Sizes of Fruit Collected from ACP Treated Trees
-----------	--

*Data from DPR, 2011 (memo)

The raw data of post-application samples from ACP treated trees is presented in Table B2.

Post-Application Interval (weeks)	Reside level (ppm)	Reporting limit (ppm)	Citrus Type
1	ND	0.01	Lemon
3	ND	0.01	Lemon
3	ND	0.01	Orange
3	ND	0.01	Orange
5	ND	0.05	Lemon
6	ND	0.01	Lemon
6	ND	0.01	Orange
6	ND	0.01	Orange
10	ND	0.01	Lemon
13	ND	0.02	Orange
13	ND	0.02	Orange
15	0.013	0.01	Lemon
15	0.025	0.01	Lemon
15	ND	0.01	Orange
16	0.02	0.02	Lemon
16	ND	0.02	Lemon
16	ND	0.02	Orange
19	ND	0.01	Orange
21	ND	0.02	Lemon
24	0.09	0.02	Lemon
28	0.11	0.02	Lemon
28	ND	0.02	Lemon
29	0.226	0.01	Lemon
30	0.03	0.02	Orange
35	0.022	0.01	Orange
42	0.012	0.01	Orange
42	0.015	0.01	Orange
42	ND	0.01	Lemon
46	0.015	0.01	Lemon
46	0.024	0.01	Lemon
50	ND	0.01	Lemon
53	0.08	0.01	Lemon
72	0.02	0.02	Lemon
81	ND	0.01	Lemon
88	ND	0.01	Orange
89	ND	0.05	Lemon
89	ND	0.02	Lemon
93	ND	0.02	Lemon
94	0.01	0.01	Lemon
95	ND	0.01	Orange
95	ND	0.01	Orange
95	ND	0.01	Orange
95	ND	0.01	Lemon
98	ND	0.01	Lemon

 Table B2. Post-Application Imidacloprid Residues in ACP Treated Tree Fruit

*A sample was considered non-detectable (ND) if the level was below the appropriate reporting limit (RL).

When analyzing for chemicals, laboratories establish detection limits (DLs) for each analytical method and targeted compound. There can be several DL values for one chemical if more than one method has been developed for that chemical's analysis.

Office of Environmental Health
Hazard Assessment

Exposure to Imidacloprid for ACP Control June 2015 The DL is the lowest concentration of the substance that can be differentiated from a blank sample with 99% confidence, assuming the absence of interference from substances other than the analyte in the sample (CDPH, 2005; Corl, 2002). To help interpret the analytical results, a reporting limit (RL) is defined for each method for each chemical. The RL can be defined as the lowest concentration of the substance that has been corrected for deviations from the DL (e.g., adjustments for sample dilution, weight and moisture) (Corl, 2002). The RL is always greater in value than its corresponding DL.

The imidacloprid residues from the ACP treated tree fruit were analyzed by multiple laboratory groups, which resulted in multiple RLs. The RLs were 0.01, 0.02 and 0.05 ppm. If the level was below the RL the residues were classified as non-detectable (ND), while levels above the RL were reported as the quantified value obtained from the analysis. All methods analyzed samples for imidacloprid alone; imidacloprid metabolites were not measured (DPR, 2011).

All background samples of imidacloprid residues (including "0 weeks after treatment") were reported as ND. Of the post-treatment sample residues, 29 (66%) were ND and 15 (34%) had quantified levels (see Table B3, below). Hereafter, citrus fruit residues refer to the post-application samples only.

Table B3. Summary of Post-Application Samples

	Lemon	Orange	Total
Non-detects	16 (59%)	13 (76%)	29 (66%)
Above reporting limit	11 (41%)	4 (24%)	15 (34%)
Total	27	17	44

*Data from DPR, 2011

The true numerical value of a result classified as ND is either equal to zero, equal to the RL, or equal to some unidentifiable value between zero and the RL. Because the exact numerical value of a ND is unknown, it cannot be included in a statistical analysis in the same way that quantified values can. Several approaches have been developed for including NDs in statistical analyses. These approaches have been incorporated into software developed by the US EPA (2011b) (ProUCL 4.1: Statistical Software for Environmental Applications for Data Sets with and without Nondetect Observations). The analyst must select the approaches in ProUCL 4.1 which are the most appropriate for their data in order to obtain the most reliable results with the least error. ProUCL 4.1 is used to analyze the imidacloprid residue data reported by DPR.

The imidacloprid fruit residue data do not fit the normal, lognormal or gamma distributions based on goodness-of-fit tests run in ProUCL 4.1 (with an alpha value of 0.05). The data are highly skewed to the right based on visual inspection, and the dataset has a skewness value of 2.352.

Therefore, an approach which does not assume a distributional fit (i.e., nonparametric approach) was used to incorporate the NDs in the statistical analysis. Kaplan Meier estimates using the Chebyshev inequality were used to analyze the data as it can be used on datasets that have multiple cutoff values, as is the case for the imidacloprid residue dataset. Results of the Kaplan-Meier (Chebyshev) analysis are provided in Table B4, below.

Table B4.	Imidacloprid	Residues from	ACP Treated	Tree Fruit (ppm)
-----------	--------------	----------------------	--------------------	------------------

Summary Statistic	Imidacloprid level		
Max	0.226		
Mean	0.023		
Standard Deviation (SD)	0.038		
Standard Error of the Mean (SEM)	0.006		
90th percentile	0.071		
95th percentile	0.085		

*analyzed using Kaplan Meier methodology in ProUCL 4.1

**data from DPR, 2011 (memo)

For long term exposures, it is likely that over time a person would be exposed to both low and high level residues. Therefore, for long term exposures of imidacloprid from citrus fruit, the mean residue level is used in the evaluation.